PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The symbol (R.), plus the page number, will refer to Volumes I, II, III, IV and XV which were consecutively numbered as Pages 1 through 681 by the court reporter in the record on appeal. Volumes I through IV constitute pages 1 through 666 and Volume XV constitutes pages 667 through 681. Volume I constitutes the transcript of the penalty phase of the proceedings. Volume II and III are made up of pretrial motions and hearings. Volume IV is made up of the charge to the jury and the verdict in the guilt phase, plus certain motions and the penalty verdict form concerning the penalty phase. Volume XV is made up of the transcript of the sentencing phase of the proceedings.

The symbol (T.), plus the page number, will refer to Volumes V - XIV and XVI through XXII which were also consecutively numbered by the court reporter in the record on appeal. Volumes V through XIV constitute Pages 1 through 1286 and Volumes XVI through XXII constitute Pages 1287 through 2135. Volumes V through XIV and XVI through XXI are made up of the trial transcript. Volume XXII is made up of the transcript of certain pretrial motions and hearings.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES GUZMAN,)
)
 Appellant,)
)
 vs.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Appellee.)
 _____)

CASE NO. 80,750

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

JAMES GUZMAN (GUZMAN) was arrested for the murder of David Colvin (Colvin) on December 13, 1991. GUZMAN was indicted for first degree murder and armed robbery with a deadly weapon on January 7, 1992. (R.277) An arraignment had been attempted on January 6, 1992, but this could not be held because no indictment or information had been filed. (T.2063-2067) At the January 6, 1992 hearing, the court was advised that the Public Defenders' Office would be moving to withdraw from the case in that the public defenders' office was representing Martha Kronan (sic-should be Cronin) who was to give evidence against GUZMAN in the case. (T.2063) A private attorney, David Vedder, had been contacted by GUZMAN because of the conflict and appeared at the hearing. (T.2063)

The public defenders' office continued to represent GUZMAN after the January 6, 1992 hearing. GUZMAN filed a pro se motion to dismiss counsel that was heard on March 2, 1992. (R.286; T.2069) His primary concern at the time was that the Public

Defenders' Office was representing Martha Cronin (hereinafter Cronin). (R.286; T.2072) In addition, the Public Defenders' Office was representing John Sara, who the State had originally intended to call as a witness against GUZMAN. (R.2073) At the hearing, the assistant public defender testified that he was appointed to represent GUZMAN on December 14, 1991 and that because the Public Defenders' Office was currently representing John Sara, he did prepare a Motion to Withdraw because of the conflict. (R.289) Subsequently, the assistant public defender received a memorandum from James Gibson, the elected Public Defender, advising that no assistant public defender could file any Motions to Withdraw on the basis of conflict until the public defender's committee on conflicts reviewed the matter. (T.2074) This review had not been done by the time GUZMAN was arraigned on January 28, 1992. (T.2075)

The assistant public defender had advised GUZMAN that there was a conflict and that the Public Defenders' Office could not take any further action on behalf of GUZMAN until such time as the matter was judicially resolved. (T.2074-75) On February 18, 1992, the Public Defenders' Office determined that there was no conflict of interest. (T.2075) Thereafter, the assistant public defender requested the withdrawal of his Motion to Withdraw to align himself with the position of the Public Defenders' Office. (T.2076)

Subsequently, the assistant public defender who was representing GUZMAN was advised of a set of circumstances involving Cronin, who was a primary witness against GUZMAN. At the time of

GUZMAN's arrest, the Public Defenders' Office was representing Cronin. The State Attorneys' Office arranged to have Cronin released from the Volusia County Branch Jail on December 12, 1991 for the purposes of investigating the GUZMAN case. (T.2076) The Public Defenders' Office did not consent or stipulate to the State Attorneys' Office interviewing Cronin while the Public Defenders' Office represented her. (T.2078) After hearing the testimony about these conflicts and GUZMAN's allegations that he was being rendered ineffective counsel, the trial court denied GUZMAN's pro se motion to dismiss counsel and found there to be no conflict concerning the Public Defenders' Office, Cronin, John Sara and GUZMAN. (R.296; T.2119, 2122)

Thereafter, the assistant public defender filed a Motion to Withdraw dated June 3, 1992 in which he claimed a conflict arose in the Public Defenders' Office when the public defender was representing both GUZMAN and a person by the name of Paul James Rogers, Jr. (hereinafter Rogers). (R. 175) A hearing was held on this Motion to Withdraw on June 12, 1992. (R.361, 416) Rogers had been incarcerated with GUZMAN and advised the State Attorneys' Office that GUZMAN had confessed to him and that he was going to testify in court against GUZMAN. (R.177) Rogers had initially contacted the Daytona Beach Police Department to testify against GUZMAN on May 29, 1992. (R.181)

Eventually, Rogers was represented by a private court appointed attorney. (R.188) Rogers gave a deposition of the alleged confession, but he never testified at the trial of GUZMAN.

Because of the potential conflict, the Public Defender's Office had moved to withdraw. GUZMAN agreed to the Motion to Withdraw because of the conflict with Rogers. (R.215) GUZMAN did not feel comfortable with the representation of an assistant public defender because of the conflict of interest problems and the public defender continuing to not represent him as GUZMAN thought he should be represented. (R.215)

The Court took the Motion to Withdraw under advisement. (R.217) After taking more testimony, the Court denied the Motion to Discharge Counsel and the Motion to Withdraw. (R.231) Subsequently, the Public Defenders' Office withdrew its Motion to Withdraw based on the conflict between GUZMAN and Rogers in that Rogers was appointed private counsel so as to obviate the conflict problem. (R.234, 254, 265) In addition, the assistant public defender who was representing Rogers testified that he had not conveyed any information about the GUZMAN case and did not know anything about the GUZMAN case. (R.266) Despite the Public Defenders' Office having withdrawn its Motion to Withdraw, the court found that there were no grounds for any potential conflict of interest. (R.268) In addition, the court once again denied GUZMAN's oral motion to discharge the public defender. (R.268, 546)

GUZMAN filed numerous motions, including a Motion for Use of Special Verdict Form for the unanimous jury determination of statutory aggravating circumstances, Motion to Prohibit any reference to the advisory roll of the jury at sentencing, Motion

to Declare §921.141(5)(i) unconstitutional, Motion for Additional Preemptory Challenges and Motion to Declare the Death Penalty Unconstitutional based on prosecutorial discretion. (R.317, 318, 319, 319, 320, 321-348, 349-341, 354-356) All of the above-referenced Motions were denied by the trial court. (T.18, 19, 20, 25-29, 31-33)

On September 11, 1992, the public defender filed yet another Motion to Withdraw citing a conflict between their representation of GUZMAN and Arthur Boyne (hereinafter Boyne). (R.412, 553) As reflected in the transcript of the hearing on June 3, 1992, the assistant public defender representing GUZMAN also represented Boyne. The Motion reflected that the Public Defenders' Office currently represented Boyne in an appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal and had not received an unequivocal waiver of the attorney/client privilege from Boyne. (R.412, 553) This Motion was filed September 11, 1992. The trial court, through the Honorable Robert W. Rawlins, denied the Motion to Withdraw based on the conflict between Boyne and GUZMAN. (T. 13) The court made this ruling, despite not being aware that Boyne was charged with first degree murder and had been represented by the Public Defenders' Office in the murder case. (T.1055) Judge Rawlins had not been the judge through the prior pretrial motions, including the various Motions to Withdraw and pro se Motions to Dismiss counsel.

This case proceeded to jury trial on September 14, 1992. During jury selection, the trial court upheld two challenges for cause made by the State against jurors. (T.736, 230)

The State's case consisted of two witnesses who alleged that GUZMAN had confessed the murder to them (Cronin and Boyne). (T.1217-63; 1029-1098) All other witnesses presented circumstantial evidence concerning the murder.

During Boyne's testimony at trial, he testified that he asked GUZMAN as to whether he was worried since he had already been convicted. (T.1043) GUZMAN's made a Motion for Mistrial that the Court took under advisement. (T.1043)

At the conclusion of the State's case, GUZMAN's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal was denied. (T.1316-17) GUZMAN's Motion for Mistrial because of Boyne's statements was again taken under advisement and eventually denied. (T.1315)

The defense had several witnesses in this case. Among them, were Artonyo Lee (Lee) and James Yarborough (Yarborough). The Court did not allow Lee to testify to certain matters and did not allow the defense to recall Lee to testify concerning the last time that he had seen the decedent alive. (T.1360-8, 1618-22) In addition, the defense attempted to have Yarborough testify as to an altercation between the victim and another person, but the Court refused to allow this testimony. (T.1321-22)

The testimony of GUZMAN's expert witness, Dr. Choporis, elicited two Motion's for Mistrial when the prosecutor continued to breach the court directions in his questioning of the doctor in voir dire and during his cross examination. (T.1480)

GUZMAN also testified in his own defense. (T.1812; 1925) The State called one rebuttal witness, then rested. (T.1926-30)

During the charge conference, GUZMAN requested several modifications in the standard jury instructions and requested several special instructions in writing. (R.578-599) These requests were denied by the trial court.

Following deliberations, the jury found GUZMAN guilty as charged of first degree murder and armed robbery. (R.577)

The penalty phase began on September 29, 1992. The State presented one witness and the defense presented only GUZMAN. (R.27-164) In the meantime, the court denied the motion for a mistrial and judgment of acquittal. Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory verdict recommending the death sentence 10-2. (R.600)

The trial court sentenced GUZMAN to death finding five aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances. (R.634-652) Appellant's motion for new trial was denied by the trial court following a hearing. (R.653) Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal. (R.654) This Court has jurisdiction. Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

David Colvin (hereinafter Colvin) was killed on August 10 or 11, 1991. (T.930, 1564) His body was discovered on August 12, 1991 at the Imperial Motor Lodge (hereinafter motel) in Daytona Beach, Florida by the motel custodian. (T.812) Colvin had been killed by a series of stab wounds and incise wounds inflicted by a large knife. (T.920, 925) At the time of his death, Colvin had a blood alcohol level of .34. (T.948)

Colvin had lived at the motel for several months prior to his death. (T.1294) Colvin had at least one altercation with an unknown assailant some two month prior to his death. (T.1321)

In late July, 1991, JAMES GUZMAN (GUZMAN) moved into the motel. (T.1813) Several days after having moved into the motel, GUZMAN met Martha Cronin (hereinafter Cronin) on August 1, 1991. (T.1218) GUZMAN and Cronin began living with each other shortly thereafter. (T.1219)

GUZMAN met Colvin after moving into the Motel, but prior to meeting Cronin. (T.1862) GUZMAN had helped Colvin move himself and his girlfriend from Room 205 of the motel to Room 114. (T.1870) GUZMAN had used Colvin's telephone in Room 205 prior to the move. (T.1871) The custodian of the motel testified that he moved this telephone to Colvin's new room as part of Colvin's move. (T.817)

On August 10, 1991, Colvin asked GUZMAN to drive his car for him to a gas station in Daytona Beach because Colvin had an infection in his foot and he did not have a driver's license. (T.1814) After having driven Colvin to the gas station, Colvin and

GUZMAN went to a tavern known as the Office Bar. The parties drank a beer there about 10:20 a.m.. Subsequently, GUZMAN drove Colvin to the International House of Pancakes in Daytona Beach and they ate breakfast. (T.1814-15) At the International House of Pancakes (IHOP), a man by the name of Curtis Wallace (hereinafter Wallace) got into an argument with Colvin. (T.899-900; 1816) Colvin then gave GUZMAN \$20.00 to pay for the breakfast while he talked with Wallace. (T.1816) Thereafter, GUZMAN drove Colvin back to the Motel. (T.1816)

GUZMAN testified that he gave the keys to the car and motel room back to Colvin, then went back to Cronin's room who was getting ready to go to work as a prostitute. (T.1816) Cronin worked as a prostitute on Ridgewood Avenue in Daytona Beach to support herself and her crack cocaine habit. (T.1217, 1790) GUZMAN began providing protection for her after they met. (T.1817) At about 3:30 in the afternoon of August 10, 1991, GUZMAN testified that Cronin brought Curtis Wallace back to her room where GUZMAN was staying. (T.1818-9) GUZMAN testified that Wallace had a piece of jewelry (a ring) that he wanted to sell. GUZMAN told Wallace that he could get rid of the ring for Wallace, but Wallace was reluctant to deal with GUZMAN because of their antipathy towards each other. (T.1820) Cronin convinced Wallace to let GUZMAN take the ring so it could be traded for drugs and cash. (T1820) GUZMAN then got the ring and called a person that he knew would want this kind of jewelry. (T1820)

Cronin testified differently at trial. She claimed that on August 10, 1991, after a day of prostitution, she had come back in to her room (#108) at the motel that she shared with GUZMAN. (T.1219,1222) She testified that GUZMAN told her that he was going help Colvin by driving him to the bank. Thereafter, she went to sleep and awakened when GUZMAN came back into the room. (T.1223) Cronin testified that GUZMAN showed her Colvin's car and motel room keys, then told her what they were. Cronin then went to work as a prostitute and left the room about 11:00 a.m.. (T.1224) Cronin testified that she came back into the room about 2:30 or 3:00 p.m. that same day. (T.1225) Cronin testified that about thirty (30) minutes after she arrived, GUZMAN came back to the room with a plastic bag and looked upset. Cronin said she asked him what was wrong, but that he left the room without answering. Shortly thereafter, GUZMAN returned to the room and told her "I did it". Cronin testified that she asked what he had done. (T.1226-7) Cronin testified that GUZMAN then said he killed Colvin and showed her the ring that he supposedly got from Colvin after having killed him. (T.1227) Cronin testified that she did not want to hear the details of the killing. Despite her request, Cronin testified that GUZMAN told her that Colvin had passed out and that GUZMAN had stabbed him with Colvin's own samurai sword. (T.1227) Cronin testified that both she and GUZMAN examined the ring and discussed what they could get for it. (T.1228) Cronin testified that GUZMAN then called a person that he knew that would want this kind of jewelry. (T.1230)

The testimony is unrefuted that GUZMAN took the ring to a drug dealer by the name of Leroy Gadson a/k/a "Paco". (T.1823, 1186) GUZMAN rode his bike to show Paco the ring and to trade it for crack cocaine and cash. (T.1188) After having procured the crack cocaine and cash, he brought the crack back to Cronin. (T.1233) Cronin testified that she was very upset because GUZMAN had not gotten enough for the trade. (T.1233)

GUZMAN testified that he left Cronin's motel room after having returned and taking one hit of the crack cocaine because Wallace was present. (T.1823) Cronin testified that Wallace was not present at the time that GUZMAN came back with the cocaine. She testified that she and GUZMAN consumed the crack cocaine. (T.1234)

The testimony is unrefuted that GUZMAN returned that night to get more cocaine and cash from Gadson as part of the trade for the ring. (T.1823) GUZMAN then testified that he gave Cronin the rest of the crack cocaine and that she subsequently gave it to Wallace. (T.1824)

GUZMAN testified that he then left the motel to go stay with a friend at another apartment complex in Daytona Beach. GUZMAN testified that he returned on Sunday, August 11, 1991. (T.1826) GUZMAN testified that Cronin asked him to come back because she knew that he was upset because Wallace was staying with her, in addition to her ex-boyfriend. (T.1827) GUZMAN decided to return after Cronin came looking for him and they then smoked crack together. (T.1827-8)

GUZMAN then testified that the police detectives knocked on the motel room door on August 12, 1991 when they were investigating the murder of Colvin. (T.1828) The detectives talked with both Cronin and GUZMAN, who both told the detectives that they knew nothing about the murder. (T.1115-20; 1125; 1829) The detectives gave GUZMAN their card, told him to keep in touch and left afterwards. (T.1829)

Subsequently, GUZMAN moved from the Imperial Motor Lodge and moved from place to place. He kept in touch with the detectives to let them know where he was. (T.1172, 1831)

Testimony from Detectives Flynt and Wright showed that they had interviewed two witnesses, Artonyo Lee (hereinafter Lee) and Curtis Wallace, on August 12, 1991 and thereafter. (T.1625, 1697) Both of these witnesses had told the detectives that they had seen Colvin alive at the coke machine at the motel on the night of August 10, 1991 (Saturday) at about 8:00 or 9:00 p.m.. (T.1673, 1677) Colvin had been wearing his ring at the time. (T.1677) In addition, Lee implicated Wallace in the killing. (T.1683, 1700)

On November 14, 1991, GUZMAN was shot by Wallace in an altercation concerning Cronin. (T.1846) Wallace had beaten Cronin and GUZMAN had confronted Wallace. (T.1853) Wallace then pulled a gun and shot GUZMAN (T.1853).

GUZMAN broke up with Cronin when she was in jail. GUZMAN went to visit Cronin the jail on December 12, 1991 to tell Cronin that he was leaving her and that he wanted nothing more to do with her. She started crying and GUZMAN left. (T.1855)

On December 13, 1991, GUZMAN contacted Detective Sylvester. Sylvester asked where GUZMAN was and after he told her, Detective Sylvester came to talk to GUZMAN along with another detective. (T.1834, 1150) At that time, they arrested GUZMAN for the murder of Colvin and transported him to Daytona Beach Police Department. GUZMAN then demanded an attorney be appointed for him. (T.1154)

GUZMAN was booked and taken to the Volusia Branch Jail. (T.1836) At that time, he was placed in the same block with Arthur Boyne (hereinafter Boyne). (T.1038) Boyne was being held in Volusia County Branch Jail on a charge of first degree murder. (T.1037) Boyne testified that GUZMAN confessed that he killed Colvin. (T.1041) Boyne also wrote a letter that was introduced into evidence at trial that attested to GUZMAN's good character and denied that GUZMAN ever confessed to Boyne. (T.1084)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The trial court erred in excluding evidence and witnesses that GUZMAN attempted to present in violation of Appellant's right to due process. GUZMAN attempted to call a witness to testify that the victim had been seen alive after the time that his primary accuser testified that GUZMAN confessed to the murder. In addition, GUZMAN attempted to have a witness testify as to incriminating statements made by another person concerning the killing of the victim. Finally, GUZMAN attempted to have a witness testify as to a previous altercation that the victim had with a third person. The trial court did not allow any of the above-referenced testimony. Such a denial violated GUZMAN's due process rights to a fair trial.

POINT II: The trial court erred in giving non-standard jury instructions in the penalty phase. Failure of the trial court to limit the jury to considering only those aggravating circumstances as reflected in §921.141(5) was error.

POINT III: The trial court erred in failing to dismiss the public defenders' office from representing GUZMAN because of the public defender's continuing conflict. The public defender represented no less than four (4) persons that the State listed as witnesses against GUZMAN. At trial, the two primary accusers of GUZMAN had been or were being represented by the public defenders' office. Such a conflict of interest required new counsel be appointed for GUZMAN or, in the alternative, rendered public defender's representation of GUZMAN ineffective.

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