IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 24 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By JC
Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES GUZMAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 80,750

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #302015
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

C. The "exclusion" of Yarbrough's testimony.

Guzman argues that he was improperly prevented from putting on evidence that the victim's samurai sword was used in an altercation between the victim and an unknown individual which occurred some period of time prior to the victim's murder. This claim does not entitle Guzman to relief because it is based on an incorrect factual premise. Rather than testifying that the sword in question was used in the prior altercation, Yarbrough unequivocally testified, on two occasions, that, while he remembered the altercation, he did not remember the sword being involved. (T. 975; 1322). Yarbrough further testified that "I didn't see no fights, just a lot of words". (T. 1322). There is no evidence anywhere in the record to support Guzman's assertion that the sword was ever used in this prior "altercation". Guzman elicited far more than he was entitled to present: the fact that the altercation took place. However, to assert that he should have been allowed to introduce evidence that the sword was used in that incident strains credibility. There is utterly no evidence to suggest that the sword was used, and, consequently, there can be no error. This claim does not entitle Guzman to relief.

For the reasons discussed above, the claims of error are based upon an incorrect interpretation of the record, and, consequently, there can not have been a "cumulative effect" of the exclusion of that testimony. There can be no error when the

evidence which Guzman wanted to present did not exist. Guzman is not entitled to any relief.

POINT 2

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED IN THE PENALTY PHASE.

Guzman argues that the jury was improperly instructed in the penalty phase of his capital trial because the trial court omitted the following phrase from the penalty phase jury instructions:

The aggravating circumstances that you may now consider are limited to any of the following that are established by the evidence:

While that phrase is included in the standard jury instructions for use in criminal cases, its omission from the jury charge in this case does not automatically entitle Guzman to relief. Instead, when the entire charge to the jury is considered, it is apparent that there was no error.

When the charge to the jury is considered as a whole, as it must be, it is clear that the jury was specifically instructed on the potential applicability of six statutory aggravating circumstances. (R. 151-153). When the portion of the jury charge which follows the listing of the statutory aggravators is considered, it is apparent that the language of that portion of the jury instruction refers to those specific aggravating circumstances, and does not invite, encourage, or suggest that the jury could consider anything outside the six statutory aggravators. (See, e.g., R. 153; 154; 157).

Of course, juries are presumed to follow their instructions, and, given the instructions in this case which specifically listed aggravating circumstances and referred to the

statutory aggravating circumstances only, it is apparent that the instructions did not invite the jury to consider anything other than the well-established statutory aggravating circumstances. Finally, given the strength of the state's case, and the strength of the five aggravating circumstances present in this case, any error in not instructing the jury that its consideration of aggravating circumstances was limited to the statutory aggravating circumstances is harmless. There would have been no need for the jury to consider any nonstatutory aggravating circumstances to arrive at a death recommendation in this case. The state clearly established that the defendant had been convicted of seven prior violent felonies, that the murder in this case was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest, that the murder was committed during the course of a robbery and/or committed for pecuniary gain, that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated. (See, e.g., R. 645-646). When those five aggravating circumstances are weighed against the weak nonstatutory mitigation established by the defendant, it is clear that no rational fact finder could have reached any other verdict than that returned by the jury. As the trial court found in its sentencing order, any one of the statutory aggravating circumstances would have been sufficient to outweigh the "insubstantial mitigation" present in this case. (See, R. 651).

As the Eleventh Circuit stated in Elledge v. Dugger, "it cannot be gainsaid that the cruelty of the rape and the murder made it more difficult for Elledge to alter the final sentence by

adducing mitigating circumstances." Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F. 2d 1439, 1447 (11th Cir.), modified, 823 F. 2d 250 (11th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 108 S. Ct. 1487 (1988). In this case, the state established the existence of five statutory aggravating circumstances. Guzman only presented relatively weak nonstatutory mitigating evidence. It stands reason on its head to suggest that the omission of the complained-of phrase from the penalty phase jury instructions made any difference in the outcome. Given the strength of the case against Guzman, and the strength of the evidence supporting a sentence of death, any error by the trial court was harmless.

POINT 3

NO CONFLICT OF INTEREST EXISTED AS TO GUZMAN'S TRIAL COUNSEL.

Guzman argues that a conflict of interest existed as to the public defender's office regarding Arthur Boyne and the defendant. Guzman claims that this "conflict" rendered his trial counsel ineffective. As with the two preceding claims, the facts do not support Guzman's assertions.

In a remarkably misleading piece of advocacy, Guzman asserts that despite Boyne's unconditional waiver of the attorney-client privilege (T. 1054), he was not able to impeach Boyne through the testimony of one of Guzman's attorneys (who had previously been appointed to represent Boyne in an unrelated matter). The record does not support this version of the facts. Instead, the record indicates that Boyne unconditionally waived the attorney-client privilege and that Guzman's attorney announced that he would call Assistant Public Defender Jacobson as a rebuttal witness. (T. 1054; 1064). Moreover, Guzman's attorney stated that his understanding was "that there was a complete and total waiver of the confidentiality that existed between the public defender's office and Boyne." (T. 1054). Contrary to Guzman's assertions in his brief, trial counsel was not in any way inhibited in his defense of this case. To the extent that Guzman suggests that the assistant public defender did not testify because the state objected, that claim is specious. (T. 1066). The true state of the record is that, for reasons unknown to the state, Guzman never attempted to offer the

testimony of Assistant Public Defender Jacobson. No ruling by the trial court prevented Guzman from calling Jacobson, and, given the tenacity of Guzman's defense, it is inconceivable that Jacobson would not have been called to testify if he had had anything material to say. Of course, a conflict of interest can be waived, and Boyne's waiver is clearly valid. See, e.g., Duncan v. Alabama, 881 F. 2d 1013, 1017 (11th Cir. 1989). The conflict of interest issue was resolved by Boyne's unconditional waiver of the attorney-client privilege, and Guzman suffered no prejudice. His trial counsel's ability to represent him was in no way impaired, and any claim to the contrary is utterly devoid of merit.

POINT 4

THE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT CLAIM.

Guzman argues that the trial court erred in denying a mistrial based upon purported prosecutorial misconduct during the examination of the defendant's handpicked expert pathologist. This claim is without merit.

The defendant's pathologist, Christopher Choporis has never performed a forensic autopsy (T. 1505); has never been licensed as a medical examiner (T. 1448); and has only testified on four occasions, always for the same assistant public defender, who is a personal friend (T. 1464). However, the fact that the prosecutor vigorously attacked the bias of this witness does not amount to prosecutorial misconduct. Instead, bias is a legitimate basis upon which to challenge the credibility of a witness. The actions of the prosecutor, which Guzman labels misconduct, are in fact nothing more than trial tactics that the defendant did not like.

Guzman's claim that the prosecutor repeatedly interrupted the witness is not supported by the record. No such interruption "occurred" at T. 1445 or T. 1446. At T. 1473, 1499, and 1500, the prosecutor was plainly attempting to prevent a lengthy, non-responsive answer to a question put to the witness on cross-examination. The fact that the trial court allowed such answers does not mean the prosecutor was engaged in any sort of misconduct. Likewise, the questioning at T. 1453, 1462, and 1604 was not repetitive of questions previously ruled on by the court. Guzman's citation to T. 1465 is particularly misleading; that

portion of the record is a side bar conference during which the state argued that the court's ruling on an objection on T. 1464 should be changed. Based on even the most cursory review of the record, there is no misconduct present.

To the extent that Guzman claims that the prosecutor attempted to mislead the jury regarding the expert witness' fees in earlier cases, that claim is specious. While the trial court did not allow the state to cross-examine the witness regarding prior fees which had been challenged by the state attorney's office, and ultimately instructed the jury as to the mechanism by which a defense expert is paid, the prosecutor's actions do not amount to misconduct. Instead, the assistant state attorney's tactics were a legitimate challenge to the witness' credibility and bias. Of course, bias is a traditional method of impeaching a witness, and it is arguable that the trial court should have permitted the state to inquire further into the witness' motivation for testifying. That is not the issue, but it is clear that the assistant state's attorney did not mislead the jury and did not engage in any misconduct. Moreover, the jury was specifically instructed on the mechanism through which a court appointed expert is paid.

To the extent that Guzman claims that the assistant state's attorney made actions, facial gestures and other behavior prejudicial to the defendant, that claim is frivolous. As stated by the assistant state's attorney, he squints when he removes his glasses because he has difficulty seeing without them. The fact that the prosecutor improvidently removed his glasses does not

state grounds for relief. To the extent that Guzman argues that the assistant state's attorney continuously quarreled with the expert witness, that claim is not supported by the record. See, pp. 20-21 above.

None of the instances referred to by Guzman amount to prosecutorial misconduct, and none of them, separately or cumulatively, amount to a basis for the granting of a mistrial. Guzman is not entitled to relief on this claim.

POINT 5

THE WITHERSPOON CLAIM.

Guzman argues that prospective juror Schantz was improperly excused for cause pursuant to Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510 (1968). When the standard for removal for cause is applied to the facts of this case, it is clear that Schantz was properly excluded.

In Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412 (1985), the United States Supreme Court clarified the Witherspoon standard, stating that the proper inquiry is "whether the juror's view would 'prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath.'" Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. at 424 [citations omitted]. See also, Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 165 (1986). In granting the state's challenge for cause, the trial court found that Schantz was opposed to capital punishment and was "very hesitant and questionable whether she could follow the law." (R. 736). Schantz stated that she would seek other options (R. 642), and, in fact, Guzman's trial counsel conceded that Schantz could not say unequivocally that she would follow the law. (R. 645). When the Witherspoon-Witt standard is applied to this case, it is clear that the state's challenge for cause was properly granted.

Finally, as the Supreme Court held in Witt, the ultimate decision on a challenge for cause must be made by the trial judge. Wainwright v. Witt, 468 U.S. at 428. Of course, the trial judge is ultimately required to make a finding as to the venireman's state of mind, and that finding must obviously be

based upon a determination of credibility and demeanor. Id. For that reason, such trial level determinations are entitled to deference on review. Id. The trial court in this case made just such a determination after observing the juror's demeanor and responses on voir dire. That is the very sort of credibility determination referred to in Witt, and it is entitled to deference on review. Schantz was properly excluded for cause, and Guzman is not entitled to relief.

POINT 6

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED GUZMAN'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON THE TESTIMONY OF ARTHUR BOYNE.

Guzman argues that a mistrial should have been granted based upon a passing reference made by one witness to Guzman's prior conviction. This claim is without merit for two independently adequate reasons.

First, Guzman's trial counsel objected to the witness' statement. (T. 1043). That objection was sustained, and the jury was instructed to disregard the statement. (Id.). The law is well-settled that juries are presumed to follow their instructions, and, given the court's prompt curative instruction, there can be no error. When all of the circumstances are considered, it is clear that Guzman was not prejudiced in any way. The remark was relatively innocuous, and was not repeated. Likewise, the court's curative instruction was prompt and did not overemphasize the witness' statement. Guzman is not entitled to relief.

The second reason this claim is without merit is that the fact of Guzman's prior conviction for murder was properly before the jury because the defendant testified during the guilt phase of his trial. (T. 1812, et seq). At the very beginning of that testimony, Guzman testified that he had previously been convicted of seven felonies. (T. 1812). Because the defendant placed his criminal record before the jury at the guilt phase, his motion for a mistrial based on Boyne's testimony is moot. This claim is utterly meritless.

POINT 7

THE GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPH CLAIM.

Guzman argues that the admission of two photographs of the body of Guzman's first murder victim was error. This claim is without merit for two independently adequate reasons.

First, Guzman has waived the section 90.403 objection contained in his brief because that claim was not raised at trial. (R. 61). Florida law is settled that claims not raised by timely objection are waived. Rutherford v. State, 545 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1989). Moreover, evidence of the circumstances of a prior violent felony by a capital defendant is clearly admissible in the penalty phase of a capital trial. See, Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204-1205 (Fla. 1989). Guzman's prior felony was clearly relevant to the sentencing proceeding, and any prejudicial effect of the two photographs did not outweigh their obvious probative value. The photographs were necessary to assist the jury in understanding the location of the murder and the method by which the victim was killed. Moreover, the photographs do not depict gross mutilation of the victim, nor do they focus unnecessarily on the victim's single gunshot wound. The probative value of the photographs outweighs any possible prejudice.

Second, even if the admission of the two photographs was error, that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In Duncan v. State, 619 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1993), this Court applied harmless error analysis to the admission of a photograph of a capital defendant's prior murder victim. Id., at 282. In this

case, as in Duncan, no further reference was made to the photographs and they did not become a focal point of the proceedings. Likewise, the photographs were not urged as a basis for a death recommendation by the jury. Finally, in this case, as in Duncan, the jury was well aware that Guzman had previously been convicted of another murder.

Moreover, when the two photographs at issue are considered along with the overwhelming aggravation (and absolute lack of mitigation) present in this case, it is clear that Guzman would have received a death recommendation regardless of whether or not those two photographs had been introduced. Because it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the photographs did not contribute to a death recommendation by the jury, any error in their admission was harmless.

POINT 8

THE INTRODUCTION OF GUZMAN'S SURVIVAL
KNIFE WAS NOT ERROR.

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